### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

S.CT. NO. 19-0945

STANLEY LIGGINS,

Defendant-Appellant.

### APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY HONORABLE MARLITA A. GREVE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY State Appellate Defender

MELINDA J. NYE Assistant Appellate Defender mnye@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

#### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether Liggins' rights to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and article I, section 9 of the Iowa Constitution were violated by juror misconduct and the district court's failure to investigate the issue?

#### **Authorities**

State v. Tejeda, 677 N.W.2d 744, 749 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Watson, 620 N.W.2d 233, 237-38 (Iowa 2000)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722, 81 S.Ct. 1639, (1961)

Iowa Const. art I, § 9

State v. Webster, 865 N.W.2d 223, 233 (Iowa 2015)

Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227, 229, 74 S. Ct. 450, 451 (1954)

Mattox v. United States, 146 U.S. 140, 150, 13 S.Ct. 50 (1892)

State v. Christensen, 929 N.W.2d 646, 679 (Iowa 2019)

United States v. Corrado, 227 F.3d 528, 535-36 (6th Cir. 2000)

United States v. Davis, 177 F.3d 552, 556-57 (6th Cir.1999)

State v. Brown, 668 A.2d 1288, 1303 (Conn. 1995)

State v. Bigley, 202 N.W.2d 56, 58 (Iowa 1972)

ABA Standards Relating to Fair Trial & Free Press 3.5(f)) (Am. Bar Ass'n 1968))

ABA Standards Relating to Fair Trial & Public Discourse, 8.5-5(d) (found at https://www.americanbar.org/groups/criminal\_justice/stand ards/crimjust\_standards\_fairtrial\_blk/)

State v. Frank, 298 N.W.2d 324, 327 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Gathercole, 877 N.W.2d 421, 433 (Iowa 2016)

Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162, 1245, 122 S.Ct. 1237, 1245, 152 L.Ed.2d 291, 302 (2002)

State v. Mann, 512 N.W.2d 528, 531 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Einfeldt, 914 N.W.2d 773, 780 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Code § 812.3 (2019)

State v. Shorter, 893 N.W.2d 65, 83 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Blackwell, 238 N.W.2d 131, 134-36 (Iowa 1976)

Iowa R. Crim. Proc. 2.27(1)

State v. Cuevas, 288 N.W.2d 525, 531 (Iowa 1980)

Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 217, 102 S.Ct. 940 (1982)

State v. Echols, 364 A.2d 225 (Conn. 1975)

State v. Henning, 545 N.W.2d 322, 324–25 (Iowa 1996)

## II. Whether the district erred by admitting the former testimony of Donna Adkins in violation of the hearsay rule and Liggins' confrontation rights?

#### **Authorities**

State v. Mann, 602 N.W.2d 785, 791 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 555 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Paredes, 775 N.W.2d 554, 560 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6, 18 (Iowa 2006)

1. Donna Adkins' previous trial testimony did not fall under the hearsay exception for prior testimony because Liggins did not have the same motive and opportunity to cross-examine Adkins regarding the suppressed information from Sheese, Armstrong and Saunders.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802

Iowa R. Evid. 5.804(a)(4)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.804(b)(1)

Laurie Kratky Dore, 7 Ia. Prac., Evidence § 5.804:1 (2019)

State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6, 17 (Iowa 2006)

2. The admission of Donna Adkins former testimony violated Liggins' right to confront the witnesses against him.

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 403, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 1067 (1965)

Iowa Const. art I, § 10

State v. Kennedy, 846 N.W.2d 517, 522 (Iowa 2014)

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 53–54, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 1363 (2004)

State v. Schaer, 757 N.W.2d 630, 635 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Holland, 389 N.W.2d 375, 379 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Tompkins, 859 N.W.2d 631, 640 (Iowa 2015)

United States v. Owens, 484 U.S. 554, 559, 108 S.Ct. 838, 842, (1988)

3. Prejudice and harmless error.

State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6, 17 (Iowa 2006)

Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 279, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 2081 (1993)

State v. Brown, 656 N.W.2d 355, 361–62 (Iowa 2003)

4. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006)

Gering v. State, 382 N.W.2d 151, 153-54 (Iowa 1986)

III. Whether W.H.'s testimony should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 5.403 because its probative value was outweighed by the risk of undue prejudice?

#### <u>Authorities</u>

State v. Tangie, 616 N.W.2d 564, 568-69 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 536 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

State v. Doolin, 942 N.W.2d 500, 510, n. 4 (Iowa 2020).

State v. Russell, 893 N.W.2d 307, 314 (Iowa 2017)

Liggins v. State, No. 12-0399, 2013 WL 5963013 (Iowa Ct. App., November 6, 2013)

IV. Whether the district court erred in failing to exclude the testimony of Frank Reising Jr., a jailhouse informant, pursuant to rule 5.403 because his clear animus toward Liggins and the crime at issue rendered the probative value of his testimony outweighed by the risk of undue prejudice?

#### **Authorities**

State v. Tangie, 616 N.W.2d 564, 568–69 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 536 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

State v. Doolin, 942 N.W.2d 500, 510, n. 4 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Campbell, 714 N.W.2d 622, 630 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Carney, 236 N.W.2d 44, 46 (Iowa 1975)

Ash v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 546 U.S. 454, 455, 126 S.Ct. 1195, 1197 (2006)

Russell D. Covey, Abolishing Jailhouse Snitch Testimony, 49 Wake Forest L. Rev. 1375, 1375 (Winter 2014)

The Innocence Project, Informing Justice: The disturbing use of jailhouse informants, available at innocenceproject.org/informing-justice/ (last visited July 21, 2020)

Arizona v. Fulminate, 499 U.S. 279, 296, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 1257-58 (1991)

State v. Schomaker, 303 N.W.2d 129, 130-131 (Iowa 1981)

Kansas v. Ventris, 556 U.S. 586, 594 n.\*, 129 S.Ct. 1841, 1847 n.\* (2009)

U.S. v. Cervantes-Pacheco, 826 F.2d 310, 315 (5th Cir. 1987)

Hoffa v. U.S., 385 U.S. 293, 311, 87 S.Ct. 408, 418 (1966)

Jeffrey S. Neuschatz et al., The Effects of Accomplice Witnesses and Jailhouse Informants on Jury Decisionmaking, 32 Law & Hum. Behav. 137, 142 (2008)

State v. Russell, 893 N.W.2d 307, 314 (Iowa 2017)

V. Whether the district court erred in failing to exclude the testimony of Antonio Holmes pursuant to rule 5.403 because the probative value was outweighed by the risk of undue prejudice?

#### **Authorities**

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 536 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

State v. Doolin, 942 N.W.2d 500, 510, n. 4 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Folkerts, 703 N.W.2d 761, 763-65 (Iowa 2005)

Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S. Ct. 716, 738 (2012)

State v. Henderson, 27 A.3d 872, 907 (N.J. 2011)

Kenneth A. Deffenbacher et al., Forgetting the Once–Seen Face: Estimating the Strength of an Eyewitness's Memory Representation, 14 J. Experimental Psychol.: Applied 139, 142 (2008)

J. Wixted & G. Wells, The Relationship Between Eyewitness Confidence and Identification Accuracy: A New Synthesis, 18 Psychol. Sci. In the Pub. Int. 10, 14, 19-20, 51-52 (2017)

Kenneth A. Deffenbacher et al., Mugshot Exposure Effects: Retroactive Interference, Mugshot Commitment, Source Confusion, and Unconscious Transference, 30 Law & Hum. Behav. 287, 299 (2006)

Gunter Koehnken et al., Forensic Applications of Line–Up Research, in Psychological Issues in Eyewitness Identification 205, 218 (Siegfried L. Sporer et al. eds., 1996) State v. Russell, 893 N.W.2d 307, 314 (Iowa 2017)

Watkins v. Sowders, 449 U.S. 341, 352, 101 S. Ct. 654, 661 (1981)

Elizabeth Loftus, Eyewitness Testimony 9 (1979)

# VI. Whether the district court erred in excluding the hearsay statements of J.L. to Judy Gonzales?

#### **Authorities**

State v. Neitzel, 801 N.W.2d 612, 621 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585, 589 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.807

State v. Veverka, 938 N.W.2d 197, 199 (Iowa 2020)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.803, 5.804 (2019)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.807

State v. Brown, 341 N.W.2d 10, 14 (Iowa 1983)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.807(a)(1)

State v. Rojas, 524 N.W.2d 659, 663 (Iowa 1994)

Laurie Kratke Dore, & Iowa Practice, Evidence § 5.807:1 (Nov. 2018)

Thomas D. Lyon, Interviewing Children, 10 Ann. Rev. L. & Soc. Sci. 73, 76 (2014)

State v. Dudley, 856 N.W.2d 668, 676 (Iowa 2014)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.807(a)(4)

Rojas, 524 N.W.2d at 663

Iowa R. Evid. 5.102

State v. Russell, 893 N.W.2d 307, 314 (Iowa 2017)

# VII. Whether the district court abused its discretion when denying Liggins' motion for a new trial?

#### **Authorities**

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 193 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Ary, 877 N.W.2d 686, 705 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Reeves, 670 N.W.2d 199, 202 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Henderson, 27 A.3d 872, 888 (N.J. 2011)

J. Wixted & G. Wells, The Relationship Between Eyewitness Confidence and Identification Accuracy: A New Synthesis, 18 Psychol. Sci. In the Pub. Int. 10, 14, 19-20, 51-52 (2017)

Kevin Krug, The Relationship Between Confidence and Accuracy: Current Thoughts of the Literature and a New Area of Research, 3 Applied Psychol. Crim. Just. 7, 31 (2007) VIII. Whether under the circumstances of this case, where the State had withheld exculpatory evidence and Liggins was retried nearly thirty years after the crime and after his opportunity to present exculpatory evidence was lost due to the death of witnesses, the district court erred in denying his motion to dismiss?

#### **Authorities**

State v. Mitchell, 757 N.W.2d 431, 435 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180, 190 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Lange, 531 N.W.2d 108, 111 (Iowa 1995).

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 8, 102 S. Ct. 1497, 1502 (1982)

Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972)

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963)

State v. Veal, 564 N.W.2d 797, 810 (Iowa 1997)

Liggins, No 12-0399, 2013 WL5963013 at \*8

State v. Trompeter, 555 N.W.2d 468, 470 (Iowa 1996)

Schmidt v. State, 909 N.W.2d 778, 793 (Iowa 2018)

Mark S. Cady, A Pioneer's Constitution: How Iowa's Constitutional History Uniquely Shapes Our Pioneering Tradition in Recognizing Civil Rights and Liberties, 60 Drake L. Rev. 1133, 1145 (2012)

Godfrey v. State, 898 N.W.2d 844, 879 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757, 769 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Young, 863 N.W.2d 249, 256 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Booth-Harris, 942 N.W.2d 562, 600 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Olson, 528 N.W.2d 651, 654 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Specifically, this appeal involves the question of when a district court has a duty to investigate juror misconduct and possible juror bias sua sponte. It also involves a question of when due process requires a dismissal of a prosecution as the only sufficient remedy for a <u>Brady</u> violation when the defense is unable to utilize the suppressed exculpatory evidence due to an extensive passage of time.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

**Nature of the Case.** Stanley Liggins appeals from his conviction, judgment and sentence for first degree murder following a jury trial in the Scott County District Court.

**<u>Course of Proceedings.</u>** In 1992, Stanley Liggins was convicted of convicted of first-degree murder, willful injury, first-degree sexual abuse, and first-degree kidnapping. His convictions were reversed on appeal, and his case was remanded for a new trial on the murder charge. <u>State v.</u> <u>Liggins</u>, 524 N.W.2d 181, 183 (Iowa 1994). Upon retrial, Liggins was convicted of first-degree murder, and his conviction was affirmed on appeal. <u>State v. Liggins</u>, 557 N.W.2d 263, 270 (Iowa 1996).

In a post-conviction relief action (LACE091830), Liggins sought a new trial alleging the State withheld exculpatory evidence and allowed witnesses to give false testimony. <u>Liggins</u> <u>v. State</u>, No. 99-1188, 2000 WL 1827164, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 13, 2000). A court-appointed special master reviewed the parties' files and concluded seventy-seven police reports had not been disclosed to the defense. Many of these reports contained exculpatory information, but some witnesses affiliated with the reports could not be located, including Theresa Held and Patricia Rhoads. Liggins focused on four reports (related to Sarah Bea, Daryl Sheese, Shawn Saunders, and Michael Armstrong) and argued he was entitled to a new

26

trial. The district court agreed the reports has been improperly withheld by the State but concluded they were not "material" and denied Liggins a new trial. (Ruling on PCR (LACE91830, pp. 8-14))(App. pp. 12-18). The court of appeals affirmed. <u>Liggins v. State</u>, No. 99-1188, 2000 WL 1827164, at \*1-5.

2007, Liggins filed a second application In for postconviction relief (PCCE107989), again alleging the State withheld exculpatory material-a critical State's witness, W.H., was a paid confidential informant. Again, the district court agreed that the information was suppressed by the State, but that it was not material to the outcome. (Ruling 1/25/12) (PCCE107989 p. 5)(App. p. 42). Liggins v. State, No. 12-0399, 2013 WL 5963013 at \*1-2 (Iowa Ct. App., November 6, 2013). The court of appeals, however, reversed the district court and remanded Liggins' case for a new trial after considering all of the information that had been withheld by the State and concluding confidence in the outcome was undermined. Liggins v. State, No. 12-0399, 2013 WL 5963013 at \*6-8.

27

After remand, the case was set for a new trial. (Order 2/12/14)(App. p. 50). Liggins waived his right to speedy trial. (Speedy Trial Waiver 2/20/14)(App. p. 52). In a pretrial hearing, the district court took judicial notice of the court files in Liggins' two PCR cases, Scott County LACE091830 and PCCE107989. (Ruling Second Motion/Dismiss 8/23/18)(App. p. 100).

Trial began on August 30, 2018. (2018 Tr. p. 1). A mistrial was declared on September 24, 2018, when the jury was unable to reach a verdict after three days of deliberations. (Jury Trial Order 9/24/18; 2018 Tr. p. 1479 L. 1 – p. 1481 L. 20)(App. p. 104).

Before the new trial began, the district court advised the parties that it would consider the previous "motions all to have been made in this trial again and with the same rulings," but offered to revisit any if necessary. (Order Setting Trial 11/1/18; 11/1/18 Hearing Tr. p. 8 L. 18 – p. 9 L. 2)(App. pp. 106-107).

Liggins' fourth trial began on March 12, 2019. (2019 Tr. p. 1). This time the jury returned a guilty verdict. (Verdict Forms)(App. pp. 124-125). The court sentenced Liggins to life in prison without the possibility of parole. (Sentencing Order)(App. pp. 127-128). Liggins filed a timely notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal)(App. pp. 129-130).

**Facts.** On the evening of Monday, September 17, 1990, the body of nine-year-old J.L. was found near the Jefferson School in Davenport. (2019 Tr. p. 517 L. 5 – p. 523 L. 15). She had been strangled and sexually assaulted before her body was doused with gasoline and set on fire. (Ex. 510A p. 365 L. 13 – p. 377 L. 10)(Conf. App. pp. 200-212). The fire was first seen at 8:16pm, and the fire department responded at 9:07pm. (2019 Tr. p. 28 L. 24 – p. 30 L. 1; Ex. 522, p. 26 L. 4 – p. 30 L. 24; Ex. 514 p. 687 L. 5-9)(Conf. App. pp. 483-487; Ex. App. p. 42).

After school that afternoon, J.L. had been home with her step-father Joe Glenn, her mother, Sherri, and her infant baby

brother in their home in Rock Island. Around 5:30pm, J.L. left on her bicycle to play with neighborhood friends and was seen speaking to a man in a reddish car. When she returned home, the house was busy-a number of people were in and out of the house that afternoon, including Eddie Zapien, John Brown, Fred Gonzales, Nate Rhoden Sr., and Nate Rhoden, Jr., working on cars, playing foosball, and socializing with Joe Glenn. Stanley Liggins arrived about the same time J.L. came back from riding her bike. Shortly after, she told her mother that Liggins had given her a dollar to buy gum. She left the house on foot, headed to Mac's Liquor. (Ex. 517 p. 227 L. 23 - p. 304 L. 25; Ex. 516 p. 499 L. 2 – p. 505 L. 13; 2019 Tr. p. 167 L. 13 – p. 171 L. 15; p. 234 L. 1 – p. 236 L. 24; p. 255 L. 13 – p. 260 L. 20; p. 267 L. 17 – p. 269 L. 16; p. 1129 L. 12 – p. 1135 L. 1; p. 1138 L. 22 - p. 1145 L. 20)(Conf. App. pp. 363-390; pp. 278-284).

Mac's Liquor was just a few blocks from J.L.'s home, and the shopkeeper remembered her coming in about 6:30pm. (Ex. 507 p. 175 L. 14 – p. 177 L. 23)(Conf. App. pp. 181-183). According to the shopkeeper, no one else was in the store when J.L. was there, and J.L. told the shopkeeper she had a girlfriend waiting for her outside. (Ex. B, p. 10 L. 22-25; p. 13 L. 2 - p. 14 L. 10)(Conf. App. p. 500; pp. 503-504). She was not seen alive again after she left Mac's with her gum and her change.

Antonio Holmes testified that at about 5:30pm on September 17, 1990, he went to Mac's Liquor for beer. As he entered, he saw a black man standing outside the store. Inside the store, he saw J.L. getting change after buying gum. She left the store, and he bought his beer. When he left, there was no one outside the store. (2019 Tr. p. 449 L. 4 - p. 452 L. 25). About a week later, when he learned that J.L. had been killed, and he decided to report what he'd seen to the police. He was taken to the police station, interviewed and shown a photo lineup. He picked Liggins' photo as the person he'd seen outside Mac's. The next day, however, he called the police back and told them he'd been drunk the night before and wasn't sure about his identification. He returned to the police station and was shown Liggins' photo—and only Liggins' photo—again. He said he couldn't be sure it was the person outside the store. (2019 Tr. p. 449 L. 4 – p. 452 L. 25; p.454 L. 14 – p. 457 L. 8; p. 470 L. 19 p. 474 L. 4; Ex. K; p. 1201 L. 8 - p. 1206 L 14). When he was deposed in 1992, he positively identified Liggins as the black male he saw outside Mac's. When asked about how he could be more sure after a two-year gap of time, he said it was because he was seeing him in the flesh and not a photo. (2019 Tr. p. 457 L. 13 – p. 462 L. 2).

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