IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 19-0945

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

STANLEY LIGGINS,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR SCOTT COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE MARLITA A. GREVE, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**RICHARD BENNETT**  
Special Counsel  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[rjbennettlaw@gmail.com](mailto:rjbennettlaw@gmail.com)

MICHAEL J. WALTON  
Scott County Attorney

JULIE A. WALTON  
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Defendant has Waived his Claim that His State and Federal Constitutional Rights to a Fair Trial were Violated because Information Indicating Juror Misconduct was not Further Investigated; Even if Not Waived, a Remand for Further Consideration of this Matter is Unwarranted.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

At the end of the first day of jury deliberations, the court attendant received information that a juror had heard from a third-party that an earlier trial of defendant had ended in a hung jury. The attendant promptly reported to the trial judge, who in turn advised defense and prosecution counsel of it and that the matter would be further considered the next day of trial. The question was considered the next day at a hearing outside the jury's presence, at which time both defense counsel and defendant Liggins were present. None of the parties believed that a mistrial was warranted, and the defense did not request any further inquiry be made, such as questioning of the jurors. 2019 Tr. 1280, line 5 – p. 1285, line 17.

Defendant asserts that his state and federal constitutional rights to a fair trial were violated due to juror misconduct because the district court failed to further investigate this matter. In contending the district court erred, defendant invokes the decision in *Remmer v. United States*, 347 U.S. 227, 74 S.Ct. 450, 98 L.Ed. 2d 654 (1954), which remanded for further proceedings regarding a third-party communication with a juror. *Id.* at 229 – 30, 74 S.Ct. at 451 - 52. Defendant asks this Court to adopt a procedure similar to the one announced in *Remmer*. Defendant's Brief at 38, 42 – 45, 55.

However, this claim has been waived. The defense was very explicit in the district court that it did not want a mistrial; nor did it indicate any desire for further investigation of the matter. 2019 Tr. p.1282, line 19 – p. 1284, line 3. Consequently, this Court may affirm without reaching the merits of the defendant's argument. *Jasper v. State*, 477 N.W. 2d 852, 856 (Iowa 1991) (a party "cannot deliberately act so as to invite error and then object because the court has accepted the invitation").

Nevertheless, on appeal defendant asserts the court had a sua sponte duty to pursue a further investigation to elicit more specific information about the matter. He urges this duty arose once the court

attendant advised the trial judge of the communication. Defendant's Brief at 38, 45 – 47. However, his reliance on the decisions in *State v. Tejeda*, 677 N.W. 2d 744 (Iowa 2004), and *State v. Watson*, 620 N.W. 2d 233 (Iowa 2000), to escape the waiver rule is unavailing.

It is true that in *State v. Tejeda*, the Court held that a trial court has a sua sponte duty of inquiry *when* a defendant alleges a breakdown in communication with counsel. 677 N.W. 2d at 749, 750. The State fails to understand how that decision excuses this defendant's failure to preserve error, as the defendant in *Tejeda* had sent two letters to a district court judge alleging a breakdown in communication and requesting new counsel – but no hearing was conducted. By writing those letters, the defendant had preserved error because the letters alerted the district court to the problem. 677 N.W. 2d at 747 – 49. *See State v. McDonald*, No. 15 – 1690, 2016 WL 6902329, at \* 2 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 23, 2016) (*Tejeda* inapplicable because defendant never requested new counsel). Thus, while *Tejeda* speaks of a sua sponte duty once alerted to a possible problem, it is not the case where the defense believed no problem existed – such as is true of this case.

Nor does the decision in *State v. Watson*, assist defendant. A court's sua sponte duty of inquiry when the issue concerns counsel's possible conflict of interest is sui generis, inapplicable to matters not involving the right to counsel in criminal cases. *Harrington v. Iowa Valley Mut. Ins. Ass'n*, No. 00-2001, 2002 WL 1331846, at \* 2 (Iowa Ct. App. June 19, 2002). A conflict of interest question is unique because of counsel's possible divided loyalties, which perforce may adversely affect his or her judgment and advocacy on behalf of the defendant. *See State v. Smitherman*, 733 N.W. 2d 741, 748 (Iowa 2007) (noting a conflict based on joint representation can "effectively seal the lips of the attorney on critical matters").

Finally, in footnote five in Division I of his brief, defendant appears to assert error because defendant Liggins was not present when the court initially advised defense counsel and the prosecutor of the juror communication, with the proviso the matter would be considered the next day of trial. Defendant was personally present at the hearing the next day. Defendant's Brief at 49. Claims premised on defendant's absence that first day have been waived. *State v. Schweitzer*, 646 N.W. 2d 117, 121 (Iowa Ct. App. 2002) (claim raised in a footnote in party's brief is waived). Moreover, defendant's

reliance on *State v. Shorter*, 893 N.W. 2d 65 (Iowa 2017), and *State v. Blackwell*, 238 N.W. 2d 131 (Iowa 1976) is misplaced. In those cases, the defendant was not present when the court and counsel conferred and agreed on a response to a jury question during deliberations, or when the court questioned jurors during a recess about a disruption in the proceedings. *Shorter*, 893 N.W. 2d at 83-84; *State v. Blackwell*, 238 N.W. 2d at 132-36. Since nothing here occurred the first day, other than advising counsel and setting the matter for a hearing the next day, it did not constitute a critical stage of trial. Even if defendant should have been present, error is harmless. *State v. Shorter*, 893 N.W. 2d at 84 (no prejudice where defense counsel *was* present and the defendant failed to show how his participation would have changed matters).

Defendant's challenges on appeal have been waived.

### **Standard of Review**

Defendant asserts the applicable standard of review is de novo, again relying on the unique decision in *State v. Watson*, which involved a constitutional question regarding conflicted counsel. Defendant's Brief at 39. The State disagrees and submits that abuse of discretion is the applicable standard for reviewing questions

regarding juror misconduct. *See State v. Webster*, 865 N.W. 2d 223, 231 (Iowa 2015). While the Court in *State v. Christianson*, 929 N.W. 2d 646, 677 (Iowa 2019), later declined to decide whether abuse of discretion or de novo review applies in such cases, the concurring opinion of three justices emphasized that the opinion does *not* overrule precedent that abuse of discretion is the correct standard. *Id.* at 681 – 82 (Waterman, J., concurring). But even under de novo review, there would be no basis for relief.

The district court is presumed to have appropriately exercised its discretion. The reviewing court will only reverse when the district court abused its discretion when considering a matter committed to its discretion. *State v. Holland*, 485 N.W. 2d 652, 655 (Iowa 1992). An abuse of discretion only exists when the court “exercises its discretion on grounds clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable.” *State v. Wickes*, 910 N.W. 2d 554, 564 (Iowa 2018) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

### **Merits**

Before the jurors were released from service the first day of deliberations, one of them approached the court attendant and privately spoke with her. This juror reported that “her son’s friend

was on the last jury and that he told her that the jury was hung.” 2019 Tr. p. 1280, lines 19 – 24. The trial in 2018 had resulted in a hung jury. Upon inquiry from the attendant, this juror indicated that she had advised three other jurors of what she had heard. One of those other jurors also spoke with the attendant that day. This juror believed that all of the jurors were aware of the matter, as the first juror had loudly announced it. 2019 Tr. p. 1280, lines 19 – p. 1281, line 20.

Defendant complains this information is vague. He asserts it is unclear whether the first juror had learned of the information by speaking with her son, or whether she also spoke with the juror in the earlier trial. He also suggests the identity of this former juror is in doubt. Finally, defendant asserts inquiry of the remaining jurors was needed to ascertain exactly what they had heard about the former trial. Defendant’s Brief at 51-52, 54-55.

Defendant asserts the court should have conducted a hearing similar to that ordered in *Remmer v. United States*, 347 U.S. 227, 74 S.Ct. 450, 98 L.Ed. 2d 654 (1954). Defendant’s Brief at 42-45, 54- 55. In *Remmer*, the defendant was tried for tax evasion. Unknown to the defense until after the verdict, during the trial an unnamed person



had contacted one of the jurors and told him he could profit by bringing in a verdict favorable to the defendant. The juror reported the incident to the judge, who advised the prosecution – but not the defense – of the matter. The FBI then conducted an investigation during the trial, issuing a report which was considered by the court and the prosecutor, without notice to the defense. Deciding that the statement at issue had been made in jest, nothing further was done. *Id.* at 227 – 28, 74 S. Ct. at 450 – 51. After verdict, the defense learned of the incident and filed a motion for new trial. The defense requested a hearing on the matter, but the court denied the motion without holding the requested hearing. *Id.* at 227 – 28, 74 S.Ct. at 450 – 51

The United States Supreme Court reversed and remanded for a hearing on the matter. In doing so, the Court stated that unauthorized, private third-party communications “with a juror during a trial about the matter pending before the jury is, for obvious reasons, deemed presumptively prejudicial.” This presumption “is not conclusive, but the burden rests heavily upon the Government to establish, after notice to and hearing of the defendant, that such contact with the juror was harmless to the defendant.” Because the

district court had acted in a summary and ex parte fashion, the record failed to explicate what had actually transpired or whether the defense was harmed. Consequently, the Court remanded for a hearing. *Id.* at 229 – 30, 74 S.Ct. at 451 – 52.<sup>3</sup>

Defendant asks this Court to determine “when a district court must, in the absence of a request from one of the parties, conduct a *Remmer* – type hearing when allegations of juror misconduct are brought to the court’s attention.” Defendant’s Brief at 45. This request should be rejected.

In urging a sua sponte duty to investigate possible juror misconduct, defendant correctly notes the importance of the right to a trial by an impartial jury. Defendant’s Brief at 42. However, there is another critical constitutional right involved in criminal trials – the

---

<sup>3</sup> This Court recently discussed the *Remmer* decision in *State v. Christiansen*, but primarily regarding *Remmer*’s provision of a rebuttable presumption of prejudice to be applied when there is an improper communication with a juror. There was no claim in *Christiansen* that the district court’s hearing on juror misconduct was inadequate. The conviction in *Christiansen* was affirmed without further proceedings. 929 N.W. 2d at 662, 667 – 80. *Remmer*’s provision of a presumption of prejudice which must be rebutted by the prosecution either no longer applies or has been significantly restricted. Instead, the *defendant* generally has the burden of establishing actual bias. See *Smith v. Phillips*, 455 U.S. 209, 215, 102 S.Ct. 940, 945, 71 L.Ed.2d 78 (1982); *State v. Christiansen*, 662 N.W. 2d at 668 – 71.

right of the defendant, with or without the assistance of counsel, to decide and pursue a chosen theory of how to defend against criminal charges. When recognizing a constitutional right of self-representation in *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed. 2d 562 (1975), the Court stated: “The Sixth Amendment does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make [a] defense.” *Id.* at 818, 95 S.Ct. at 2533. While certain decisions are left to counsel when a defendant is represented, others are for the defendant alone; but, as a general matter all are committed to the defense and not the trial court for decision. *See Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745, 751, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 3312, 77 L.Ed. 2d 987 (1983) (while the defendant has the “ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding the case,” such as whether to waive a jury or to testify, other matters are left to counsel’s professional judgment); *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 820 – 21, 95 S.Ct. at 2534 (recognizing the power of trial counsel “to make binding decisions of trial strategy in many areas” as agent of the defendant).

Furthermore, a criminal defendant has a right to be tried by the jury at hand, in the absence of manifest necessity for a mistrial over

defense objection because of the interests of public justice. *Illinois v. Somerville*, 410 U.S. 458, 459, 93 S.Ct. 1066, 1068, 35 L.Ed. 2d 425 (1970). If manifest necessity is not present, the trial should proceed. As the Court observed in *Somerville*: "The determination by the trial court to abort a criminal proceeding where jeopardy has attached is not one to be lightly undertaken, since the interests of the defendant in having his fate determined by the jury first impaneled is itself a weighty one." *Id.* at 471, 93 S.Ct. at 1073.

The defense did not want a mistrial. As counsel stated at the hearing: "In talking it over with Mr. Liggins, we are – we're not going to move for a mistrial." 2019 Tr. p. 1283, lines 10 – 18. Nor did the defense see a need for further investigation. Counsel's remarks indicated that the fact of prior trials could not have been unknown to the jurors, given the use at this trial of prior testimony from the earlier trials for numerous witnesses. While the results of any of the prior trials had not been expressly presented to the jury, counsel noted that "speculation would have been out there anyway, given the odd procedural history of this case." 2019 Tr. p. 1282, line 19 – p. 1283, line 18. The district court and the prosecutor also agreed that a

mistrial was unwarranted, and saw no need for further investigation.  
2019 Tr. p. 1284, lines 1 – 15.

The parties then collaborated on an additional instruction for the jury. In doing so, defense counsel urged that a relatively short and simple instruction should be issued; he believed that the report of the communication was “kind of a nonissue” and he did not want a detailed or elaborate instruction that would “exaggerate the importance” of the matter. 2019 Tr. p. 1283, line 19 – p.1284, line 3.

The following instruction was issued to the jury:

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